Aus der Klinik und Poliklinik für Palliativmedizin

Klinik der Universität München

Vorstand: Prof. Dr. med. Claudia Bausewein PhD MSc

Challenges and need for support regarding the use of sedative drugs and sedation at the end of life in general palliative care: results from the mixed-methods study SedEoL

Dissertation zum Erwerb des Doktorgrades der Humanbiologie an der Medizinischen Fakultät der Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität zu München

vorgelegt von

Sophie Annalena Meesters

aus

Landshut

Jahr

2022

Mit Genehmigung der Medizinischen Fakultät der Universität München

Berichterstatter:	Prof. Dr. med. Claudia Bausewein PhD MSc
Mitberichterstatter:	PD Dr. Peter Reilich
	PD Dr. Rachel Würstlein
Mitbetreuung durch den	
promovierten Mitarbeiter:	Dr. Eva Schildmann
Dekan:	Prof. Dr. med. Thomas Gudermann
Tag der mündlichen Prüfung:	21.11.2022

Affidavit



Sophie Meesters Name, Vorname

Ich erkläre hiermit an Eides statt, dass ich die vorliegende Dissertation mit dem Titel:

"Challenges and need for support regarding the use of sedative drugs and sedation at the end of life in general palliative care: results from the mixed-methods study SedEoL"

selbständig verfasst, mich außer der angegebenen keiner weiteren Hilfsmittel bedient und alle Erkenntnisse, die aus dem Schrifttum ganz oder annähernd übernommen sind, als solche kenntlich gemacht und nach ihrer Herkunft unter Bezeichnung der Fundstelle einzeln nachgewiesen habe.

Ich erkläre des Weiteren, dass die hier vorgelegte Dissertation nicht in gleicher oder in ähnlicher Form bei einer anderen Stelle zur Erlangung eines akademischen Grades eingereicht wurde.

München, 02.12.2022 Ort, Datum

Sophie Meesters Unterschrift Doktorandin bzw. Doktorand

Contents

Affida	avit	3
Conte	ents	4
List of	f abbreviations	5
List of	f publications	6
1.	Individual contribution of the author	7
1.1	Contribution to paper I and paper II	7
1.2	Contribution to paper III (supplementary material)	7
2.	Introduction	8
2.1	Comfort care and symptom control at the end of life in palliative care	8
2.2	Prevalence of the use of sedatives and sedation	8
2.3	Variations in terms, definitions, concepts and guidelines	9
2.4	Description of sedation practices 2.4.1 Variations in sedation practices	.11
	2.4.2 Indications for the use of sedatives and sedation2.4.3 Drugs used for sedation	
2.5	Challenges and ethical reflections	.12
2.6	Description of the mixed-methods study: sedation at the end of life outside special palliative care (SedEol)	
2.7	Objectives and contents of this thesis	.15
2.8	References	.17
3.	Zusammenfassung:	.21
4.	Abstract (English):	.24
5.	Paper I	.27
6.	Paper II	.28
Suppl	lementary material: Paper III	.29
Danks	sagung	.30

List of abbreviations

List of publications

Paper I

Meesters S, Grüne B, Bausewein C, Schildmann E. "We don't want to sedate him" - A qualitative interview study on intentions when administering sedative drugs at the end of life in nursing homes and hospitals. *BMC Palliat Care*. 2021 Sep 13; 20(1): 141. doi: 10.1186/s12904-021-00832-0. PMID: 34517847; PMCID: PMC8439055.

Paper II

Meesters S, Grüne B, Bausewein C, Schildmann E. "Palliative Syringe Driver"? A Mixed-Methods Study in Different Hospital Departments on Continuous Infusions of Sedatives and/or Opioids in End-of-Life Care. *J Patient Saf.* 2021 Oct 13; 00(00). doi: 10.1097/PTS.000000000000918.

Supplementary material

Grüne B, **Meesters S**, Bausewein C, Schildmann E. Challenges and Strategies Regarding Sedation at the End of Life in Hospitals and Nursing Homes. *J Pain Symptom Manage*. 2021 Dec 15; S0885-3924(21)00668-0. doi: 10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2021.12.012. Epub ahead of print. PMID: 34921935.

1. Individual contribution of the author

The author of this thesis contributed to the concept, design and conduct of the study. She was substantially involved in the development of the data extraction tool for quantitative data collection and in designing the interview guides for qualitative data collection. She jointly extracted quantitative data from patient and resident records and conducted interviews. With support of other team members and the project lead, the author defined the specific research questions for the publications of this thesis and prepared and analysed the data. She developed the concept of the publications and wrote the original manuscripts with critical revision of all authors. Furthermore, she was responsible for the publication process as corresponding author and was the main contributor to editing and reviewing the manuscripts. Regarding the third publication, included as supplementary material, she supported the first author in defining the research question, analysing the data and developing the concept. Moreover, she critically revised the manuscript and the revisions.

1.1 Contribution to paper I and paper II

Study concept and design: Schildmann E, Grüne B and Meesters S, with support of Bausewein C. Acquisition of data: Grüne B and Meesters S. Analysis of data: Meesters S, with support of Grüne B and Schildmann E. Interpretation of data: all authors. Drafting of the manuscript: Meesters S. Critical revision of the manuscript for important intellectual content: all authors.

1.2 Contribution to paper III (supplementary material)

Study concept and design: Schildmann E, Grüne B and Meesters S, with support of Bausewein C. Acquisition of data: Grüne B and Meesters S. Analysis of data: Grüne B, with support of Meesters S and Schildmann E. Interpretation of data: all authors. Drafting of the manuscript: Grüne B. Critical revision of the manuscript for important intellectual content: all authors.

2. Introduction

2.1 Comfort care and symptom control at the end of life in palliative care

Approximately two-thirds of all deaths in western countries occur due to or with a progressive disease.¹ Patients living with life-threatening diseases and their families face various physical, social, psychological and spiritual problems.¹ Palliative care aims at providing the best possible treatment and support for these patients and their families until death by preventing and relieving suffering within all areas named.^{1, 2} It is provided in general and specialist settings: Specialist palliative care comprises services that provide predominantly palliative care, for example palliative care units or specialist palliative homecare teams. General palliative care includes care to patients with life-threatening diseases provided by primary care professionals, for example on general hospital wards.² While the palliative care approach generally aspires early integration in the disease process, it is especially of great importance in the dying phase to ensure comfort care and adequate symptom control. The use of sedatives is an important end-of-life measure when dying patients are suffering from intractable symptoms, such as pain, dyspnoea or anxiety.³ When sedatives are used in a monitored way and with the intention to decrease or remove consciousness to relieve suffering from intractable symptoms, this is defined as "sedation in palliative care" or "palliative sedation".⁴ The reduction of consciousness can be administered temporarily or continuously (until death) and can range from mild to deep.⁴ However, there is a wide variation in the definition of "sedation in palliative care" or "palliative sedation".⁵ Although it is an accepted treatment option at the end of life, it is controversially discussed in numerous empirical studies and ethical debates.⁵⁻⁷ In the following, the terms "sedation in palliative care" and "palliative sedation" are equally referred to as "sedation".

2.2 Prevalence of the use of sedatives and sedation

Empirical studies regarding the prevalence of the use of sedatives and sedation report very different results.^{8, 9} According to systematic reviews, there is a wide variation of the prevalence of sedation reported, ranging from 12 to 67%.^{10, 11} This wide range is firstly related to variations in study designs. While population-based surveys are based on clinicians' accounts of the practice labelled as "sedation" by themselves, retrospective chart reviews generally assess the use of

9

sedatives independent of the label.¹²⁻¹⁸ Moreover, comparison is often difficult, even for studies with similar study designs, due to the different operationalisation of the "sedation" or sedatives. Retrospective chart reviews include different drugs and modes of administration, and a vagueness in terms and different definitions may contribute to the wide range among surveys.^{5, 6,} ^{8, 13, 17, 18} Narrowing down the definition of sedation, for example, to situations in which sedation was primarily intended will generate a lower prevalence than that also including cases of reduction of consciousness as a side effect.⁶ Furthermore, systematic reviews include studies examining different forms of sedation and it is not always clear whether the data refer to mild or deep, continuous or temporary sedation.⁹ Irrespective of these methodological difficulties, the existing literature indicates differences in prevalence between countries as well as between general and specialist settings. Country-specific differences were shown among all settings and forms of sedation: according to a questionnaire study among Dutch, Flemish and British physicians, continuous deep sedation was significantly less often provided in Dutch hospitals (11%) compared to hospitals in Flanders (20%) and the U.K. (17%).¹⁵ Reasonably comparable retrospective reviews reported a prevalence of continuous midazolam doses in patients at the end of life in palliative care units of 76% in Germany, 45% in Hong Kong and 22% in Canada.^{13,} ^{19, 20} The prevalence of sedative drug use in general hospital departments ranged from 16% in South Korea to 63% in Germany.^{12, 18} Referring to setting-specific differences, various studies identified a higher prevalence of sedation and sedative drug use for specialist settings.¹⁸⁻²² Moreover, the proportion of patients receiving sedatives and sedation seems to vary across institutions within the general setting, which may depend on the patient population, the physicians' speciality and their experience.^{12, 17, 18} Finally, a recent systematic review examining changing practices in the use of continuous sedation at the end of life concluded that the frequency of continuous sedation seems to increase over time. The review reported a prevalent increase over time from 3% in Denmark in 2001 to 18% in the Netherlands in 2015, possibly partly due to an extension of indications for sedation.23

2.3 Variations in terms, definitions, concepts and guidelines

Various terms have been used to refer to the use of sedatives at the end of life, including "terminal sedation", "palliative sedation", "palliative pharmacological sedation" and "intentional sedation".^{6,} ^{8, 9, 24} Moreover, no common definition of these terms exists, and definitions and key terms are mostly vague and partly pre-emptive.^{5, 25} While some authors reported that all guidelines at least describe sedation consistently as the intended reduction of consciousness, a recent review extracted "reduced consciousness" as the only content shared in all definitions.^{5, 9, 26} Europe-wide and numerous country-specific sedation guidelines aiming to set standards and promote best practice differ not only in their terms and definitions but also in key recommendations.²⁵⁻²⁸ According to a recent systematic review, variance between guidelines was identified regarding the definition of the practice, indications for its use, continuation of life-prolonging therapies, medications used and timing/prognosis.²⁸ The timing of initiation, for example, ranges from "hours to days" to "a week" in different guidelines.^{26, 28} Additionally, Schildmann and colleagues identified considerable variations in their systematic reviews concerning the concreteness of details.^{25, 27} Accordingly, only a few guidelines, for example, state reasons for the distinction of somatic and psychological symptoms regarding the restriction of sedation to exceptional cases for psychological or existential suffering.²⁵ Differences in terms and concepts were not only described between studies and guidelines but also among healthcare professionals.^{29, 30} Comparing different countries, various studies showed that healthcare professionals in the U.K. avoid the label "sedation", preferring accounts of a settled or comfortable state. A reduction of consciousness was often described as a side effect of the medication used for managing difficult symptoms. Therefore, healthcare professionals in the U.K. perceived sedation mostly as a process rather than a single decision.^{29, 31, 32} By contrast, healthcare professionals from Belgium and the Netherlands defined sedation predominantly as an intentional reduction of consciousness. They emphasised that sedation is an explicit medical decision.^{29, 31} Respondents from the Netherlands partly described sedation and euthanasia as alternatives.^{29, 31} Comparing settings, a study from Switzerland revealed that the understanding of continuous deep sedation until death differs between healthcare professionals from general and specialist settings.³⁰ In addition to a lack of consistent terminology and definitions, the study described differences in the understanding of common terms as well as regarding indication and intentions. While specialist palliative healthcare professionals, for example, mostly defined continuous deep sedation until death as an explicitly intended measure to treat refractory symptoms, healthcare professionals in general palliative care perceived deep sedation also as a side effect of increased pain medication.³⁰ Differences in terms, definitions, concepts and guidelines can cause problems from both a theoretical and practical perspective.^{5, 6, 30} Firstly, as shown in the previous chapter, variety

11

and vagueness are considered as contributing causes for the inconsistencies in empirical data described, hindering comparisons of the sedation practice.^{5, 6} Secondly, transparent and effective discussions and decision-making processes in practice require common terms with consistent understanding. If terms mean different things to different professions, breakdowns in communication may result, jeopardizing sufficient symptom control for patients.^{5, 30} Various studies described a need to resolve the conceptual confusion, encompassing uniform definitions and a consistent understanding of these terms and definitions.^{5, 6, 33}

2.4 Description of sedation practices

2.4.1 Variations in sedation practices

As shown above, existing guidelines differ considerably in their key recommendations. Accordingly, several studies also reported considerable variations in the sedation practice between countries, settings, and medical specialities. Reported variations refer to the prognosis of patients receiving sedation, indications, titrating and decision-making processes.^{21, 23, 30, 31, 34, 35} Moreover, Seymour and colleagues identified differences in the values and concerns regarding consciousness during dying, hastening death, continuous sedation as an 'alternative' to euthanasia and using guidelines for practice as explanatory factors for the variations.³¹ Referring to the value of consciousness, for example, healthcare professionals from the U.K. were reported to predominantly use low doses of sedatives, ensuring that patients could maintain interaction for as long as possible. By contrast, healthcare professionals from Belgium put more emphasis on the importance of adequately relieving the patient's suffering and described, therefore, predominantly the use of deep sedation.³¹

2.4.2 Indications for the use of sedatives and sedation

Guidelines generally restrict the use of sedation at the end of life to symptoms, which are refractory to other symptom control measures to relieve intolerable suffering.⁴ While many healthcare professionals, particularly from specialist settings, emphasise the use of continuous deep sedation restrictively for refractory and intolerable symptoms, empirical studies also describe deviations from this guideline recommendation.^{29, 36-38} Moreover, the determination of refractoriness and intolerability seems to be challenging for practitioners and there appears to be room for improvement regarding tools for assessment.^{30, 34, 38} Indications reported to require

sedation are mostly categorised in physical and psychological or existential symptoms. Most quantitative studies describe physical symptoms to indicate sedation, comprising dyspnoea, agitation, delirium and pain.^{23, 34} Psychological or existential suffering is only rarely stated as an indication for sedation but reported to be co-present in many cases.³⁴ Qualitative interview studies revealed that healthcare professionals perceive physical and psychological or existential symptoms as interwoven, which together cumulate into states considered as refractory and intolerable.^{38, 39} Moreover, social and practical factors, for example, the patient's personality, values and beliefs, seem to influence the decision to start continuous deep sedation in addition to medical indications.³⁸

2.4.3 Drugs used for sedation

Guidelines consistently recommend benzodiazepines, neuroleptics/antipsychotics, barbiturates, and general anaesthetics for sedation at the end of life and exclude the use of opioids.⁴ Systematic reviews identified midazolam as the main sedative drug used. Other frequently used sedative drugs include phenobarbital, promethazine and propofol.^{23, 34} In contrast to guideline recommendations, several studies showed that opioids are also used as the only medication for sedation, particularly in the general palliative care setting.^{23, 37, 40, 41}

2.5 Challenges and ethical reflections

Rietjens and colleagues stated in a recent publication that sedation is among the most challenging topics in end of life care.⁷ Firstly, these challenges refer to the variations in terms, definitions and concepts described, affecting the evidence base and development of guidelines. Secondly, sedation is also a challenging topic in everyday practice. Continuous deep sedation until death is particularly surrounded by numerous ethical debates, as it constitutes the end of a person's social life.^{9, 42} One major challenge is the differentiation between euthanasia and sedation. There is still extensive debate regarding the distinction between sedation and euthanasia in the literature as well as in practice.^{21, 31, 43-45} A common argument used to distinguish sedation from euthanasia is that sedation does not shorten life.^{43, 45} In addition to this empirical argument of differentiation, the appeal to Aquinas' Doctrine of Double Effect is often used to differentiate sedation from euthanasia on an ethical basis.^{43, 44} Aquinas' Doctrine of Double Effect includes four aspects: (1) the action is not bad in itself; (2) only the good effect is intended, the bad one is merely foreseen;

(3) the bad effect is coincidental; and (4) the good effect outweighs the bad effect.⁴³ However, there is no consensus regarding these arguments.⁴⁶ Beyond these arguments discussed in the literature, physicians and nurses morally justify the use of sedation with the arguments of 'last resort', 'sanctity of life', 'autonomy' and 'proportionality'.42 Despite these morally justifications and many studies which indicate no life-shortening effect of sedation, uncertainties regarding the differentiation and concerns regarding the hastening of death are highly prevalent among healthcare professionals.^{32, 47-48}. In addition to these major challenges, studies reported further challenges regarding indication and timing, the effectiveness of sedation, insufficient education and experience, interaction within the team or the family, and organisational barriers.⁴⁸⁻⁵² Healthcare professionals described, for example, difficulties in clearly identifying and interpreting symptoms with fears of being influenced by their own emotions.⁵⁰⁻⁵¹ As continuous deep sedation especially is not a routine practice, many healthcare professionals do not feel adequately educated and experienced, particularly in finding the right dose.⁵⁰ Moreover, there seem to be uncertainties regarding the effectiveness of sedation because it is questionable whether putting people to sleep provides relief automatically.⁵¹ Qualitative studies showed that problems in communication and interaction within the team and with the family can cause difficulties and moral distress.^{50, 52} Reported problems include, for example, pressure from team members or the family, unclear roles and diverging opinions.⁵² Organisational barriers were only rarely described and referred mainly to the unavailability of medication.⁵⁰ These uncertainties and concerns seem to differ between healthcare professions, which could partly be explained by differences regarding the experience with specialist palliative care and sedation as well as by different role models.^{32,} 48

2.6 Description of the mixed-methods study: sedation at the end of life outside specialist palliative care (SedEol)

Both publications of this thesis are based on research results from the SedEoL study, a multicentre mixed-methods study on the use of sedatives and sedation at the end of life outside specialist palliative care. As described, sedation at the end of life is an accepted but much debated and challenging practice. Most research on sedation has been conducted in the specialist setting. However, international studies show that sedation at the end of life also takes place in settings outside specialist palliative care, i.e. hospital departments or nursing homes.^{14, 22, 35, 53-54} Research

results from the general palliative care setting are needed as only a minority of about 4% of people die in specialist palliative care settings.⁵⁵ Moreover, international research results demonstrate that the understanding of sedation at the end of life and the practice are highly dependent on the ethico-legal framework and the health system.^{31, 56-57} Therefore, research results from other countries cannot readily be transferred to the German health care context and research results from Germany on this topic are scarce. Finally, existing studies focus primarily on the practice of continuous deep sedation until death. Other sedation practices taking place in hospitals or nursing homes are only rarely taken into account.^{31, 57} Therefore, SedEoL aimed to describe the current practice of sedation during the last seven days of life outside specialist palliative care in selected German hospital wards and nursing homes and to explore associated challenges, as perceived by non-specialist healthcare professionals, and possible measures of support.

The specific research questions were:

(1) What are the frequencies and characteristics of different types of sedation during the last seven days of life outside specialist palliative care in selected hospital departments and nursing homes?

(2) What are healthcare professionals' views, experiences and perceived challenges regarding different types of sedation at the end of life outside specialist palliative care settings?

(3) Which identified challenges of sedation at the end of life outside specialist palliative care are addressed in published sedation guidelines, and which adaptations of guidelines are necessary for clinical contexts outside specialist palliative care in the light of the empirical findings of the study?

To address these aims, a sequential mixed-methods design, including an exploratory chart review followed by qualitative interviews and focus groups, was conducted. The quantitative part comprised 1032 records of patients/residents who died between January 2015 and December 2017 (n = 517 in hospital departments, n = 512 in nursing homes). Regarding the qualitative part, 25 nurses (n = 13 from hospital departments, n = 12 from nursing homes) and 24 physicians (n = 12 from hospital departments, n = 12 from nursing homes) participated in the interviews between April and October 2019. The two focus groups took place in July 2020 and consisted of 14 participants (five nurses, six physicians and three NA/both). The study results are expected to inform future research and guideline development regarding sedation at the end of life outside

specialist palliative care and identify the need for support and possible measures for healthcare professionals.

2.7 Objectives and contents of this thesis

The overarching aim of this thesis was to identify the challenges and need for support regarding the use of sedatives and sedation at the end of life in German general palliative care both quantitatively and qualitatively. The third publication, included as supplementary material, provides an overview of all challenges perceived by the healthcare professionals of the participating centres. The two publications included in this thesis focused on specific aspects, which were described in more detail. The first publication explored the concept of sedative drugs and intentions when administering sedative drugs, including comparisons between nurses and physicians and between healthcare settings. The second publication studied continuous infusions of sedatives and/or opioids in hospital departments.

The research questions of the included publications are stated and chapters are summarised briefly in the following. In addition to the publications included in this thesis and provided as supplementary material, the team members published three further papers describing the quantitative research results.^{17, 18, 62}

Chapter 5 refers to a qualitative study exploring what concept German healthcare professionals in general palliative care have of "sedative drugs". Moreover, the study examines the intentions with which healthcare professionals administer sedative drugs at the end of life. We conducted interviews with 24 physicians and 25 nurses. The transcripts of the semi-structured interviews were analysed thematically with MAXQDA, following the Framework approach. The results demonstrated that German healthcare professionals in general palliative care define different drugs as sedative drugs. Most interviewees described to use benzodiazepines, antipsychotics, or opioids when sedative drugs are necessary, some also named sleeping medication, antiemetics, and analgesics in general. Only few interviewees divided the drugs into different medication groups, referring to sedative drugs, anxiolytics, analgesics, and others. When being asked with which intentions they administer sedating drug, most interviewees described the exclusion of intentions, that is, what they want to avoid. The term "sedation" was mostly used for inducing unconsciousness, and our interviewees stated that they generally do not induce deep reductions of consciousness. To accept a side effect rather than making an explicit decision and avoidance of the term "sedation" have important consequences. Healthcare professionals will probably not refer to respective guidelines, and the decision-making process and informed consent of the patient may be impeded. The results provide relevant information for the structuring of educational courses in general palliative care: Healthcare professionals need to understand the difference between sedation as side effect and intentional sedation as well as the potential transition. Moreover, it is important to address negative associations with the term. Consequently, adherence to guidelines can be promoted and transparent and clear communication can be enabled.

Chapter 6 refers to a mixed-methods study assessing the use of continuous infusions of sedatives and/or opioids within the last week of life in general hospital departments. For the quantitative part, we analysed data of the retrospective chart review to describe the current clinical practice. Additional to descriptive statistics, we conducted bivariate analysis to evaluate differences between patients receiving continuous infusions of sedatives and/or opioids and patients not receiving them as well as between hospital departments. We used qualitative data to explore how healthcare professionals experience the use of continuous infusions of sedatives and/or opioids. We analysed the transcripts of the semi-structured interviews thematically utilising the Framework approach. For data analysis and interpretation, we integrated both phases with equal weight. Quantitative results were explained by qualitative results or we compared the results to each other. During the last week of life 359/517 (69%) patients received a continuous infusion of sedatives and/or opioids on at least one day. Although many interviewees stated that they start continuous infusions of sedatives and/or opioids only in cases of substantial suffering, data suggest that the label "palliative" may be a relevant factor for starting continuous infusions. It is likely that some physicians only start continuous infusions of sedatives and/or opioids when the change in treatment goal from curative to palliative is documented. Additionally, it can be assumed that the administration might be a form of standard procedure in the final phase of patients. Thus, the possible requirement of the label "palliative" to administer continuous infusions can lead to the avoidance or postponement of continuous infusions. Furthermore, a possible standard procedure poses the risk of using continuous infusions by default without individually assessing indications and patient's needs. In conclusion, there is a need to include symptom control with continuous infusions in recommendations and programmes for general palliative care.

2.8 References

- 1. Bausewein C, Fegg M, Müller M, Roller S and Voltz R. 1 Patientenbedürfnisse. In: Bausewein C, Roller S and Voltz R, (eds.). *Leitfaden Palliative Care (Fünfte Ausgabe)*. Munich: Urban & Fischer. 2015, p. 1-16.
- 2. Radbruch L and Payne S. White paper on standards and norms for hospice and palliative care in Europe: part 1. *Eur J Palliat Care*. 2009; 16: 278-89.
- Greater Manchester and Eastern Cheshire Strategic Clinical Networks. Palliative Care -Pain & Symptom Control Guidelines For Adults - For Staff Providing Generalist Palliative Care. Greater Manchester Medicines Management Groups, 2019.
- 4. Cherny NI, Radbruch L and Board of the European Association for Palliative Care. European Association for Palliative Care (EAPC) recommended framework for the use of sedation in palliative care. *Palliat Med.* 2009; 23: 581-93.
- 5. Kremling A and Schildmann J. What do you mean by "palliative sedation"? : Preexplicative analyses as preliminary steps towards better definitions. *BMC Palliat Care*. 2020; 19: 147.
- 6. Raus K and Sterckx S. How defining clinical practices may influence their evaluation: the case of continuous sedation at the end of life. *J Eval Clin Pract.* 2016; 22: 425-32.
- 7. Rietjens JAC, van Delden JJM and van der Heide A. Palliative sedation: The end of heated debate? *Palliat Med.* 2018; 32: 1639-40.
- 8. Garetto F, Cancelli F, Rossi R and Maltoni M. Palliative Sedation for the Terminally III Patient. *CNS drugs*. 2018; 32: 951-61.
- 9. Twycross R. Reflections on palliative sedation. *Palliat Care*. 2019; 12: 1178224218823511.
- Beller EM, Van Driel ML, McGregor L, Truong S and Mitchell G. Palliative pharmacological sedation for terminally ill adults. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2015; 1(1): CD010206.
- 11. Maltoni M, Scarpi E, Rosati M, et al. Palliative sedation in end-of-life care and survival: a systematic review. *J Clin Onco*. 2012; 30: 1378-83.
- 12. Kim YS, Song HN, Ahn JS, et al. Sedation for terminally ill cancer patients: A multicenter retrospective cohort study in South Korea. *Med.* 2019; 98: e14278.
- 13. Tin WW, Lo SH and Wong FC. A retrospective review for the use of palliative sedation in a regional hospital in Hong Kong. *Ann Palliat Med.* 2019.
- 14. Van Deijck RH, Krijnsen PJ, Hasselaar JG, Verhagen SC, Vissers KC and Koopmans RT. The practice of continuous palliative sedation in elderly patients: a nationwide explorative study among Dutch nursing home physicians. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* 2010; 58: 1671-8.
- 15. Anquinet L, Rietjens JA, Seale C, Seymour J, Deliens L and van der Heide A. The practice of continuous deep sedation until death in Flanders (Belgium), the Netherlands, and the UK: a comparative study. *J Pain Symptom Manage*. 2012; 44: 33-43.
- 16. Vitetta L, Kenner D and Sali A. Sedation and Analgesia-Prescribing Patterns in Terminally III Patients at the End of Life. *Am J Hosp Palliat Care.* 2005; 22: 465-73.
- 17. Schildmann E, Meesters S, Grüne B, et al. Sedatives and Sedation at the End of Life in Nursing Homes: A Retrospective Multicenter Cohort Study. *J Am Med Dir Assoc.* 2021; 22: 109-16.e1.
- 18. Schildmann E, Meesters S, Grüne B, et al. Sedation at the end of life in hospital a multicentre retrospective cohort study. submitted.
- 19. Abdul-Razzak A, Lemieux L, Snyman M, Perez G and Sinnarajah A. Description of Continuous Palliative Sedation Practices in a Large Health Region and Comparison with Clinical Practice Guidelines. *J Palliat Med.* 2019; 22(9): 1052-1064.
- Schildmann E, Pörnbacher S, Kalies H and Bausewein C. 'Palliative sedation'? A retrospective cohort study on the use and labelling of continuously administered sedatives on a palliative care unit. *Palliat Med.* 2018; 32: 1189-97.

- Papavasiliou EE, Chambaere K, Deliens L, et al. Physician-reported practices on continuous deep sedation until death: A descriptive and comparative study. *Palliat Med.* 2014; 28: 491-500.
- 22. Ziegler S, Schmid M, Bopp M, Bosshard G and Puhan MA. Continuous Deep Sedation Until Death—a Swiss Death Certificate Study. *J Gen Intern Med.* 2018: 1-8.
- 23. Heijltjes MT, van Thiel G, Rietjens JAC, van der Heide A, de Graeff A and van Delden JJM. Changing Practices in the Use of Continuous Sedation at the End of Life: A Systematic Review of the Literature. *J Pain Symptom Manage*. 2020; 60: 828-46.e3.
- 24. Forschungsverbund SedPall [Research Consortium SedPall] in cooperation with the German Association of Palliative Care e.V. Handlungsempfehlung: Einsatz sedierender Medikamente in der spezialisierten Palliativversorgung [Practice guideline: Administration of sedating drugs in specialist palliative care]. 24.04.2021.
- 25. Schildmann E and Schildmann J. Palliative sedation therapy: a systematic literature review and critical appraisal of available guidance on indication and decision making. *J Palliat Med.* 2014; 17(5): 601-11.
- Abarshi E, Rietjens J, Robijn L, et al. International variations in clinical practice guidelines for palliative sedation: a systematic review. *BMJ Support Palliat Care*. 2017; 7(3): 223-9.
- 27. Schildmann EK, Schildmann J and Kiesewetter I. Medication and monitoring in palliative sedation therapy: a systematic review and quality assessment of published guidelines. *J Pain Symptom Manage*. 2015; 49(4): 734-46.
- 28. Gurschick L, Mayer DK and Hanson LC. Palliative Sedation: An Analysis of International Guidelines and Position Statements. *Am J Hosp Palliat Care.* 2015; 32: 660-71.
- 29. Seale C, Raus K, Bruinsma S, et al. The language of sedation in end-of-life care: The ethical reasoning of care providers in three countries. *Health*. 2015; 19(4): 339-54.
- 30. Ziegler S, Schmid M, Bopp M, Bosshard G and Puhan MA. Continuous deep sedation until death in patients admitted to palliative care specialists and internists: a focus group study on conceptual understanding and administration in German-speaking Switzerland. *Swiss Med Wkly*. 2018; 22(148): w14657.
- 31. Seymour J, Rietjens J, Bruinsma S, et al. Using continuous sedation until death for cancer patients: a qualitative interview study of physicians' and nurses' practice in three European countries. *Palliat Med.* 2015; 29(1): 48-59.
- 32. Vivat B, Bemand-Qureshi L, Harrington J, Davis S and Stone P. Palliative care specialists in hospice and hospital/community teams predominantly use low doses of sedative medication at the end of life for patient comfort rather than sedation: Findings from focus groups and patient records for I-CAN-CARE. *Palliat Med.* 2019; 33(6): 578-88.
- 33. Papavasiliou ES, Brearley SG, Seymour JE, Brown J and Payne SA. From sedation to continuous sedation until death: how has the conceptual basis of sedation in end-of-life care changed over time? *J Pain Symptom Manage*. 2013; 46(5): 691-706.
- Arantzamendi M, Belar A, Payne S, et al. Clinical Aspects of Palliative Sedation in Prospective Studies. A Systematic Review. *J Pain Symptom Manage*. 2021; 61(4): 831-844.e10.
- 35. Miccinesi G, Rietjens JA, Deliens L, et al. Continuous deep sedation: physicians' experiences in six European countries. *J Pain Symptom Manage*. 2006; 31(2): 122-9.
- 36. Anquinet L, Rietjens JAC, Van den Block L, Bossuyt N and Deliens L. General practitioners' report of continuous deep sedation until death for patients dying at home: A descriptive study from Belgium. *Eur J Gen Pract.* 2011; 17(1): 5-13.
- 37. Sercu M, Pype P, Christiaens T, Derese A and Deveugele M. Belgian general practitioners' perspectives on the use of palliative sedation in end-of-life home care: a qualitative study. *J Pain Symptom Manage*. 2014; 47(6): 1054-63.
- 38. Robijn L, Chambaere K, Raus K, Rietjens J and Deliens L. Reasons for continuous sedation until death in cancer patients: a qualitative interview study. *Eur J Cancer Care (Engl).* 2017; 26(1).

- 39. Swart SJ, van der Heide A, van Zuylen L, et al. Continuous palliative sedation: not only a response to physical suffering. *J Palliat Care*. 2014; 17(1): 27-36.
- 40. Mercadante S, Masedu F, Mercadante A, Marinangeli F and Aielli F. Attitudes of palliative home care physicians towards palliative sedation at home in Italy. *Support Care Cancer.* 2017; 25(5): 1615-20.
- 41. Mercadante S. Opioid rotation for cancer pain: rationale and clinical aspects. *Cancer*. 1999; 86(9): 1856-66.
- 42. Rys S, Mortier F, Deliens L, Deschepper R, Battin MP and Bilsen J. Continuous sedation until death: moral justifications of physicians and nurses—a content analysis of opinion pieces. *Med. Health Care. Philos.* 2013; 16(3): 533-42.
- 43. Riisfeldt TD. Weakening the ethical distinction between euthanasia, palliative opioid use and palliative sedation. *J Med Ethics*. 2019; 45(2): 125-130.
- 44. Cavanaugh TA. Proportionate palliative sedation and the giving of a deadly drug: the conundrum. *Theor Med Bioeth.* 2018; 39(3): 221-31.
- 45. Schofield G, Baker I, Bullock R, et al. Palliative opioid use, palliative sedation and euthanasia: reaffirming the distinction. *J Med Ethics*. 2020; 46(1):48-50.
- Riisfeldt TD. A response to critics: weakening the ethical distinction between euthanasia, palliative opioid use and palliative sedation. *J Med Ethics*. 2020; 46(1): 59-62.
- Abarshi EA, Papavasiliou ES, Preston N, Brown J and Payne S. The complexity of nurses' attitudes and practice of sedation at the end of life: a systematic literature review. J Pain Symptom Manage. 2014; 47(5): 915-25.e11.
- 48. Ziegler S, Merker H, Schmid M and Puhan MA. The impact of the inpatient practice of continuous deep sedation until death on healthcare professionals' emotional well-being: a systematic review. *BMC Pall Care*. 2017; 16: 30.
- 49. Grüne B, Meesters S, Bausewein C and Schildmann E. Challenges and strategies regarding sedation at the end of life in hospitals and nursing homes. *J Pain Symptom Manage*. 2021; S0885-3924(21)00668-0.
- 50. Robijn L, Deliens L, Rietjens J, Pype P and Chambaere K. Barriers in the Decision Making About and Performance of Continuous Sedation Until Death in Nursing Homes. *Gerontologist.* 2020; 60(5):916-925.
- 51. Leboul D, Aubry R, Peter J-M, Royer V, Richard J-F and Guirimand F. Palliative sedation challenging the professional competency of health care providers and staff: a qualitative focus group and personal written narrative study. *BMC Palliat Care*. 2017; 16(1): 25.
- 52. Lokker ME, Swart SJ, Rietjens JAC, van Zuylen L, Perez R and van der Heide A. Palliative sedation and moral distress: A qualitative study of nurses. *Appl Nurs Res.* 2018; 40: 157-61.
- 53. Rietjens J, van Delden J, Onwuteaka-Philipsen B, Buiting H, van der Maas P and van der Heide A. Continuous deep sedation for patients nearing death in the Netherlands: descriptive study. *BMJ*. 2008; 336(7648): 810-3.
- 54. Robijn L, Cohen J, Rietjens J, Deliens L and Chambaere K. Trends in continuous deep sedation until death between 2007 and 2013: a repeated nationwide survey. *PloS One*. 2016; 11(6): e0158188.
- 55. Dasch B, Blum K, Gude P and Bausewein C. Place of Death: Trends Over the Course of a Decade: A Population-Based Study of Death Certificates From the Years 2001 and 2011. *Dtsch Arztebl Int.* 2015; 112(29-30): 496-504.
- 56. Rietjens JA, Voorhees JR, van der Heide A and Drickamer MA. Approaches to suffering at the end of life: the use of sedation in the USA and Netherlands. *J Med Ethics*. 2014; 40(4): 235-40.
- 57. Anquinet L, Rietjens JA, Mathers N, Seymour J, van der Heide A and Deliens L. Descriptions by general practitioners and nurses of their collaboration in continuous sedation until death at home: in-depth qualitative interviews in three European countries. *J Pain Symptom Manage*. 2015; 49(1): 98-109.

58. Schildmann E, Bolzani A, Meesters S, et al. Sedatives and sedation at the end of life: a nursing home retrospective cohort study. *BMJ Support Palliat Care*. 2019; bmjspcare-2019-001984.

3. Zusammenfassung:

In der Sterbephase können unerträgliche und therapierefraktäre Symptome auftreten, darunter Schmerzen, Atemnot, Angst oder Unruhe. Sedierung ist in diesen Situationen eine grundsätzlich akzeptierte Handlungsoption. Jedoch deuten zahlreiche ethische Diskussionen sowie eine große Anzahl an empirischen Forschungsarbeiten darauf hin, dass es sich bei Sedierung am Lebensende um ein komplexes und herausforderndes Konzept handelt. "Sedierung in der Palliativversorgung" oder "palliative Sedierung" kann als überwachter Einsatz von Medikamenten definiert werden mit dem Ziel, das Bewusstsein zu vermindern oder aufzuheben, um die Symptomlast in anderweitig therapierefraktären Situationen zu reduzieren". Jedoch fehlt es an einer einheitlichen Terminologie und Definition sowie an einheitlichen Empfehlungen in Leitlinien. "Sedierung" wird dementsprechend für verschiedene Vorgehensweisen verwendet, was zu Herausforderungen sowohl in der Praxis als auch in der Literatur führt. Neben dieser Begriffsverwirrung ist Sedierung am Lebensende vor allem im praktischen Alltag von weiteren Herausforderungen begleitet, darunter zum Beispiel die Abgrenzung zur Sterbehilfe oder Schwierigkeiten bei der Indikationsstellung. Bisher fokussieren sich Studien zu Sedierung am Lebensende vorrangig auf das spezialisierte Setting. Da jedoch der Anteil an Menschen, die in Settings der spezialisierten Palliativversorgung versterben, gering ist, sind Forschungsergebnisse aus dem Setting der allgemeinen Palliativversorgung nötig.

Ziel dieser Arbeit ist es, Herausforderungen und Unterstützungsbedarf bei der Anwendung von sedierenden Medikamenten und Sedierung in der allgemeinen Palliativmedizin in Deutschland zu untersuchen. Der erste Artikel untersucht qualitativ das Konzept, das Versorgende von "sedierenden Medikamenten" haben sowie die Intentionen, mit denen sedierende Medikamente verabreicht werden. Der zweite Schwerpunkt liegt auf der Verabreichung kontinuierlicher Infusionen mit Sedativa und/oder Opioiden im Krankenhaus. Mit Hilfe eines Mixed-Methods Ansatzes wurde quantitativ die Praxis und qualitativ erlebte Erfahrungen untersucht.

Als Datenquelle für die Artikel wurden Daten aus der SedEoL Studie genutzt, eine explorative Mixed-Methods Studie, die den Einsatz sedierender Medikamente und Sedierung am Lebensende in der allgemeinen Palliativversorgung untersucht. In einem sequentiellen Design wurde im ersten Schritt eine retrospektive Aktenanalyse durchgeführt. Insgesamt wurden 1032 Akten von Patient*innen und Bewohner*innen untersucht, die zwischen Januar 2015 und Dezember 2017 auf den teilnehmenden Krankenhausstationen und in Pflegeheimen verstarben. Im nachfolgenden qualitativen Teil wurden 25 Pflegende und 24 Ärzt*innen aus den teilnehmenden Krankenhausstationen und Pflegeheimen semi-strukturiert interviewt. Die quantitativen Daten wurden mittels deskriptiver statistischer Analyse ausgewertet, die qualitativen Daten mittels Framework Analyse.

Die Ergebnisse des ersten Artikels zeigten, dass es kein einheitliches Konzept von sedierenden Medikamenten unter den Befragten gibt. Die meisten nannten Benzodiazepine, Opioide und Antipsychotika. Jedoch ordneten einige die genannten Medikamentengruppen insgesamt unter sedierenden Medikamenten ein, während andere zwischen sedierenden Medikamenten, Anxiolytika und Analgetika unterschieden. Bezüglich der Intention für die Verabreichung sedierender Medikamente hoben die Befragten insbesondere hervor, was sie nicht erreichen möchten. Durch den Einsatz sedierender Medikamente soll das Leiden der Patient*in reduziert werden, eine Bewusstseinsreduktion ist aber in der Regel nicht beabsichtigt und wurde hauptsächlich als Nebeneffekt wahrgenommen. Außerdem wurde der Begriff "Sedierung" vorwiegend mit tiefer Bewusstseinsreduktion assoziiert, die es zu vermeiden galt. Während es für die Befragten von großer Bedeutung war, dass sedierende Medikamente nicht zur Ruhigstellung oder Fixierung verwendet werden, erwähnten sie auch, dass die Medikamente möglicherweise zur Beruhigung der Angehörigen und des Teams verwendet werden. Abschließend berichteten die Befragten, dass eine Lebensverkürzung niemals Ziel des Einsatzes sein darf, man einen möglichen lebenszeitverkürzenden Effekt jedoch ab einer gewissen Dosierung in Kauf nehmen muss. Die Untersuchung von kontinuierlichen Infusionen mit Sedativa und/oder Opioiden zeigte, dass 69% der verstorbenen Patient*innen in den letzten sieben Lebenstagen diese Behandlung erhielten, wobei Midazolam (99%) und Morphin (80%) die am häufigsten eingesetzten Medikamente waren. Die Interviewten berichteten, dass kontinuierliche Infusionen mit Sedativa und/oder Opioiden nur bei entsprechendem Leiden eingesetzt werden. Jedoch zeigten sich Hinweise darauf, dass es einen Zusammenhang zwischen der Bezeichnung "palliativ" und dem Ansetzen der Infusionen gibt. Zum einen wurden diese teils als "Palliativ-Perfusor" bezeichneten Infusionen in einigen Fällen als Standardbehandlung für sterbende Patient*innen verstanden. Zum anderen schienen Ärzt*innen im Ansetzen der kontinuierlichen Infusionen zurückhaltend zu sein, wenn die Bezeichnung "palliativ" nicht in der Akte vermerkt war. Der spezialisierte Palliativdienst wurde bei 60% aller Patient*innen mit kontinuierlicher Infusion mit Sedativa

und/oder Opioiden hinzugezogen und auch in den Interviews als elementare Unterstützungsstrategie benannt.

Zusammenfassend zeigen die Ergebnisse der Artikel deutlich, dass es in der allgemeinen Palliativversorgung Unterstützungs- und Schulungsbedarf bezüglich der Anwendung von sedierenden Medikamenten und Sedierung am Lebensende gibt. Schulungsbedarf existiert in Bezug auf das Konzept von sedierenden Medikamenten und Sedierung. Eine explizite Benennung als Sedierung anstelle der Inkaufnahme der Bewusstseinsreduktion als Nebeneffekt kann die Anwendung von entsprechenden Leitlinien fördern und zu einem bewussten und informierten Entscheidungsprozess beitragen. Daran schließt sich ein genereller Schulungsbedarf bezüglich Möglichkeiten der Palliativversorgung an. Die Behandlung mit kontinuierlichen Infusionen mit Sedativa und/oder Opioiden sollte weder standardmäßig für sterbende Patient*innen angesetzt noch mit palliativer Versorgung gleichgesetzt werden. Andererseits sollten Wissen und Erfahrung bezüglich sedierender Medikamente ausreichend vorhanden sein, um einen verzögerten Einsatz aufgrund von Unsicherheiten und Bedenken zu verhindern.

4. Abstract (English):

In the dying phase, unbearable and therapy-refractory symptoms may occur, including pain, dyspnoea, anxiety or agitation. Sedation is a generally accepted treatment option in these situations. However, the numerous ethical discussions as well as a substantial amount of empirical research indicate that sedation at the end of life is a multifaceted and challenging concept. "Sedation in palliative care" or "palliative sedation" can be defined as the use of medication in a monitored way and with the intention to decrease or remove consciousness to relieve suffering from intractable symptoms. However, there is a lack of uniform terms and definitions as well as uniform recommendations in guidelines. "Sedation" accordingly includes different procedures, which leads to challenges both in practice and in the literature. In addition to this confusion of terms, sedation at the end of life is accompanied by further challenges, especially in practical everyday life, including the differentiation from euthanasia or difficulties in determining indications. So far, studies on sedation at the end of life focused primarily on the specialist palliative care setting. As the proportion of people who die in specialist palliative care setting are needed.

The aim of this thesis is to identify the challenges and need for support regarding the use of sedatives and sedation in general palliative care in Germany. The first publication qualitatively examines what concept German healthcare professionals in general palliative care have of "sedative drugs" and the intentions with which healthcare professionals administer them at the end of life. The second publication focuses on the administration of continuous infusions of sedatives and/or opioids in hospital departments. Using a mixed-methods approach, we examined the practice quantitatively and experiences qualitatively.

Data were taken from the results obtained in the SedEoL study, an exploratory mixed-methods study investigating the use of sedative drugs and sedation at the end of life in general palliative care. A retrospective chart review was followed by qualitative semi-structures interviews. A total of 1032 records of patients and residents who died in the participating hospital departments and nursing homes between January 2015 and December 2017 were examined. Subsequently, 25 nurses and 24 physicians from the participating hospital departments and nursing homes were interviewed. We used descriptive statistical analysis to analyse de quantitative date and utilised the Framework Analysis to analyse the qualitative data.

The results of the first publication showed that there is no uniform concept of "sedative drugs"

among the interviewees. Most interviewees described to use benzodiazepines, antipsychotics, or opioids when sedative drugs are necessary, some also named sleeping medication, antiemetics, and analgesics in general. With regard to the intention for administering sedative drugs, most interviewees described the exclusion of intentions, that is, what they want to avoid. The use of sedative drugs was intended to reduce the patient's suffering, but a reduction of consciousness was generally not intended and was primarily perceived as side effect. In addition, the term "sedation" was mainly associated with a deep reduction of consciousness, which should be avoided. While it was of great importance to the interviewees that sedative drugs are not used for tranquilizing or restraining the patient, they also mentioned that the drugs may partly be used to relieve the relatives' and the team's situation. Finally, the interviewees reported that shortening life must never be the aim but acknowledged that a life-shortening effect might result from high doses of sedative drugs. The second publication showed that 69% of the deceased patients received a continuous infusion of sedatives and/or opioids in the last seven days of life, with midazolam (99%) and morphine (80%) being the most frequently used drugs. The interviewees reported to use continuous infusions of sedative drugs and/or opioids only used in cases of serious suffering. However, data suggest that the label "palliative" may be a relevant factor for starting continuous infusions. In some cases, the continuous infusions, sometimes referred to as "palliative syringe driver", may be perceived as standard treatment for dying patients. Moreover, physicians seemed to hesitate starting the continuous infusions before the term "palliative" was recorded. The specialist palliative care service was consulted in 60% of all patients with continuous infusions of sedatives and/or opioids and was also mentioned in the interviews as elementary support measure.

In conclusion, the results of the two publications clearly show that there is a need for support and training in general palliative care regarding the use of sedative drugs and sedation at the end of life. First, healthcare professionals need to be educated regarding the concept of "sedative drugs" and sedation. Explicitly naming sedation instead of accepting the reduction of consciousness as a side effect can promote the use of appropriate guidelines and contribute to a conscious and informed decision-making process. Moreover, there is a need for training in palliative care methods. Treatment with continuous infusions of sedatives and/or opioids neither should be standard for dying patients nor equated with palliative care. Conversely, knowledge and

experience regarding sedative drugs should be sufficient to prevent delayed use due to uncertainties and concerns.

5. Paper I

"We don't want to sedate him" – A qualitative interview study on intentions when administering sedative drugs at the end of life in nursing homes and hospitals

Published in:

BMC Palliative Care. September 13, 2021

Meesters S, Grüne B, Bausewein C, Schildmann E

Meesters, S., Grüne, B., Bausewein, C. Schildmann, E. "We don't want to sedate him" - A qualitative interview study on intentions when administering sedative drugs at the end of life in nursing homes and hospitals. BMC Palliat Care 20, 141 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12904-021-00832-0

6. Paper II

"Palliative syringe driver"? – A Mixed-Methods Study in Different Hospital Departments on Continuous Infusions of Sedatives and/or Opioids in End-of-Life Care

Published in:

Journal of Patient Safety. October 13, 2021;

Meesters S, Grüne B, Bausewein C, Schildmann E

Meesters S, Grüne B, Bausewein C, Schildmann E. "Palliative Syringe Driver"? A Mixed-Methods Study in Different Hospital Departments on Continuous Infusions of Sedatives and/or Opioids in End-of-Life Care. J Patient Saf. 2022 Jun 1;18(4):e801-e809. doi: 10.1097/PTS.0000000000000918. PMID: 35617602; PMCID: PMC9162073.

Supplementary material: Paper III

Challenges and Strategies Regarding Sedation at the End of Life in Hospitals and Nursing Homes

Published in:

Journal of Pain and Symptom Management. December 15, 2021

Grüne B, Meesters S, Bausewein C, Schildmann E

Grüne B, Meesters S, Bausewein C, Schildmann E. Challenges and Strategies Regarding Sedation at the End of Life in Hospitals and Nursing Homes. J Pain Symptom Manage. 2022 Apr;63(4):530-538. doi: 10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2021.12.012. Epub 2021 Dec 16. PMID: 34921935

Danksagung

Die vorliegende Dissertation wurde in der Zeit von Oktober 2018 bis Januar 2022 an der Klinik und Poliklinik für Palliativmedizin, Klinikum der Universität München, unter der Leitung von Prof. Dr. med. Claudia Bausewein angefertigt. An dieser Stelle möchte ich mich bei all denen bedanken, die mich in dieser Zeit persönlich und beruflich begleitet und unterstützt haben.

An erster Stelle möchte ich mich bei meiner Doktormutter Prof. Dr. med. Claudia Bausewein für die Möglichkeit bedanken, diese Arbeit unter ihrer Leitung verfasst haben zu können. Vielen Dank für den jederzeit sehr gewinnbringenden Austausch, die fachliche Unterstützung und die vielen hilfreichen Überarbeitungsvorschläge.

Für die sehr engagierte Mitbetreuung meiner Promotion bedanke ich mich ganz besonders bei Dr. med. Eva Schildmann. Sie hat mich von Beginn an auf dem gesamten Weg unterstützt, war jederzeit für alle Fragen verfügbar und hat mit ihren Ratschlägen und ihrer konstruktiven Kritik maßgeblich zu dem Entstehen der Arbeit beigetragen.

Auch ganz herzlich bedanken möchte ich mich bei meiner ehemaligen Kollegin Bettina Grüne. Wir haben viel gemeinsam diskutiert, Probleme gewälzt und Lösungen gefunden. Vielen Dank für deine stets große Hilfsbereitschaft, viele gute Gespräche, deine immer ehrliche Meinung und deine vielen wertvollen Ratschläge. Ein großer Dank geht natürlich auch an das restliche Sedierungs-Team, Jerri, Violet und Jan, für die tolle Arbeitsatmosphäre und den wissenschaftlichen Austausch.

Nicht zuletzt gilt mein Dank meinen Freunden und meiner Familie. Vielen Dank an meine Eltern Rüdiger und Angelika Meesters und an meine Schwestern Susanne und Lea, dass wir immer für einander da sind und dass ihr über die gesamte Zeit hinweg immer interessiert an meinen Fortschritten wart. Und abschließend: Vielen Dank, Rudi, für deine Geduld, dein Zuhören, deine Rücksicht und dass du mir jederzeit zur Seite stehst.